IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 6 1920

CLERK, SLANDER OD Deputy Clark

BOBBY LEE DOWNS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 73,877

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. MCLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

###

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# Procedural Progress of the Case

A Duval County grand jury indicted Bobby Lee Downs on May 5, 1988, for first degree murder for the shooting death of his wife Nicole Downs. (R 255) The indictment also charged Downs with an aggravated assault on Terry Lamar Strickland. (R 255) April 20, 1988, was the alleged date of the homicide. (R 255) The indictment alleged April 26th as the date of the aggravated assault, but the State later filed a statement of particulars changing that date to April 20th. (R 255, 276) (Tr 193-196, 234-235) Bobby pleaded not guilty and proceeded to a jury trial. (Tr 13) The jury found Bobby guilty as charged and, after hearing additional evidence, recommended a life sentence for the murder. (R 491-492, 519)

Circuit Judge L. P. Haddock adjudged Bobby guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder and to five years imprisonment for the aggravated assault. (R 554-562) Judge Haddock found four aggravating circumstances: (1) a previous conviction for a violent felony; (2) the homicide was committed during a burglary; (3) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (4) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R 559-562) The court rejected the mitigation evidence offered in support of the mitigating circumstances of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and substantially impaired capacity and found nothing in mitigation. (R 559-562)

- 1 -

Downs timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on March 10, 1989. (R 565)

### Facts -- Prosecution's Case Guilt Phase

Bobby and Nicole began their relationship when Nicole was 15-years-old. (Tr 479) They had two children during their two-year marriage which was marred by several brief separations. (Tr 461, 479) Nicole would typically leave and then return to the relationship a short time later. (Tr 479) The separation existing at the time of the homicide began shortly after the Christmas holidays and was the longest. (Tr 462-465, 479) Nicole's mother, Judith LeClerc, testified, over objection, that Nicole loved Bobby but was afraid of him because he had threatened her life. (Tr 464-465, 485-487) During the separation, Bobby saw Nicole and the children almost every day. (Tr 465) On one occasion, Bobby and Nicole took the children to the beach together with Nicole's sister. (Tr 480-481) Bobby still called Nicole's parents mom and dad. (Tr 480) He said loved Nicole and wanted a reconciliation. (Tr 471-472)

Several times during the separation, Bobby said he was going to kill Nicole. Bobby had an alcohol problem and frequently "runs his mouth" when he is drinking. (Tr 482, 515) Judith LeCleric heard Bobby threaten to kill Nicole at the time Nicole left him. (Tr 464-465) Later during the separation on April 9th, LeClerc had a conversation with Bobby about things he could do to help a reconciliation. (Tr 466-467) Bobby said he loved Nicole and the children. (Tr 471-472) At the

- 2 -

conclusion of the conversation, Bobby said he would "take care of things his way." (Tr 467) A long-time friend of the LeClerc family, Claire Cowette, also testified to hearing Bobby make threats. (Tr 492) Bobby called Cowette "Aunt Claire" just like Nicole did. (Tr 494) Two times in March, Cowette was outside the LeClerc home when Bobby was waiting outside. (Tr 495, 502) Bobby wanted Nicole to come outside to talk to him. (Tr 495, 502-503) When Cowette related Nicole's answer that she was not coming outside, Bobby said he was going to kill her. (Tr 495, 503) Although Bobby appeared sober on the first occasion, he was drinking a beer on the second. (Tr 495, 503) On April 20th, Bobby came to Cowette's house to see her son, Leeds Gallager, at 1:30 in the morning. (Tr 504-505, 512-513) Cowette was up late talking to a friend in the living room when Bobby walked inside and straight to Leed's bedroom. (Tr 504) She went to the bedroom and escorted Bobby from the house. (Tr 504-505) Bobby had been drinking. (Tr 507) He staggered and slurred his speech. (Tr 509) Although Cowette testified at trial that she did not think Bobby was drunk, she testified at a deposition that he was drunk at the time. (Tr 509-512) She had seen him drunk in the past and concluded he was drunk because of his stagger and slurred speech. (Tr 512-513) During this time, Bobby threatened to kill Nicole and Kenny Ray. (Tr 506, 513) Kenny Ray was a family friend, and Bobby apparently believed Nicole was having an affair with him. (Tr 471) No one who heard the statements believed he was seriously contemplating killing her. (Tr 515-516) In fact, his expressed concern

- 3 -

was reconciling the marriage or insuring he had access to his children. (Tr 466-467)

Around 11:00 on the morning of April 20th, Bobby telephoned the LeClerc house to speak with Nicole. (Tr 524-526) Present in the house were Nicole, her sister Michelle, Terry Strickland, who was waiting to meet a friend, and five children. (Tr 522-523) Terry Strickland said three telephone calls were made. (Tr 523-526) Nicole answered the first call and conversed in a normal tone of voice, mentioning Bobby's name. (Tr 524) Immediately after Nicole hung up the from the first call, the telephone rang a second time. (Tr 525) Nicole again answered and talked for three to five minutes. (Tr 525) She seemed upset at the conclusion of the call. (Tr 525) Michelle answered the third call and talked to Bobby. (Tr 525) She told him that Nicole did not want to talk, however, Nicole took the telephone from Michelle and did talk to Bobby. (Tr 525-526, The conversation lasted five minutes and Nicole told 628) Bobby he could come see his children. (Tr 526) Strickland testified that the conversations involved an argument between Bobby and Nicole about Kenny Ray. (Tr 622, 628) At the end of the third call, Nicole was screaming, yelling and cursing. (Tr 630) Over objection, Strickland testified that he heard Nicole say she was not going back to Bobby because he "stuck a gun to me and my kids once." (Tr 526-527) After the telephone conversation, Strickland asked Nicole if she would feel better if she called the police. (Tr 549) She said "No". (Tr 549) Strickland then asked if she had something for protection, and

- 4 -

in response, Nicole got a pipe wrench and concealed it in the couch. (Tr 550) Michelle left the house, and shortly thereafter, Bobby arrived. (Tr 550-551) A few minutes later, a friend of Nicole's, Michelle McAlister, also known as "Ziggy", telephoned and came to the house. (Tr 554-556, 649-650)

When Bobby entered the house, he spoke to Strickland and Nicole and began playing with his children. (Tr 553, 632-633) Bobby also talked to Nicole. (Tr 553) Strickland was watching television, but he heard part of their conversation. (Tr 553) Bobby repeatedly asked Nicole to come kiss him and talk to him. (Tr 553-554) Each time, Nicole said, "No". (Tr 553-558) Bobby wanted Nicole to talk to him in the kitchen or outside, but she refused to leave the living room. (Tr 553-558, 633-635) Bobby had not been rude or angry, just persistent. (Tr 634) At one point, Nicole said something about a bulge she saw in Bobby's pants. (Tr 558-559, 634) She asked if it was a gun, and Bobby told her not to worry about it. (Tr 559, 634) He told Nicole that he would not hurt her. (Tr 635) Nicole got up from the sofa and said she was going to call the police. (Tr 559) She picked up the telephone, dialed the number and sat down on the sofa. (Tr 559, 657) Bobby pulled a pistol from his pants and shot the telephone. (Tr 559, 565, 657-658) Nicole dropped the telephone and kicked back onto the sofa. (Tr 559, 566) She also kicked at Bobby. (Tr 674) Bobby was about two or three feet away when he fired the gun. (Tr 559) Nicole grabbed her two children and held them. (Tr 566-567)

- 5 -

Bobby told Nicole to put the children down, but she refused. (Tr 567, 659-660) Strickland started to get up, however, Bobby pointed the gun at him and told him not to try anything. (Tr 567) Bobby continued trying to talk Nicole into releasing the children, but she continued to refuse. (Tr 567-568) Bobby asked both Strickland and Ziggy to get the children. (Tr 568-569, 660-661) Nicole was screaming for them not to comply with Bobby's demand. (Tr 568-569) Ziggy left the house. (Tr 569, 664) Strickland remained but did not get the children. (Tr 568) Bobby put the gun back in his pocket and continued to ask that Nicole put the children down. (Tr 569, 636) He pulled the gun again, and after the fourth or fifth time he asked her to release the children, Bobby grabbed Nicole's hair, turned her head to the side and shot her three times. (Tr 570) The shots were fired rapidly, with a two or three second hesitation between the first and second shot. (Tr 637-638) Strickland said Nicole was begging Bobby not to shoot at the time. (Tr 571) Nicole was shot in the right cheek, the right shoulder and behind the right ear. (Tr 790-802) The shot behind the right ear entered the brain and was instantaneously fatal. (Tr 814-819) The other wounds were not fatal injuries. (Tr 809-813) Bobby backed away, fired another shot which hit the wall, and left through the back door. (Tr 577) Strickland tried to calm the children, then he left to go to a neighbor's for help. (Tr 577, 587) He saw Bobby get in his car in the front yard and drive away. (Tr 577-578) The incident from the first shot until Bobby drove away lasted about 15 to 20

- 6 -

minutes. (Tr 587) Bobby pulled his car beside Ziggy, who was walking home, and told her that he and Nicole were having problems and he had to leave before he killed her. (Tr 668)

Lieutenant George Lee with the Nassau County Sheriff's Office arrested Bobby as he was driving on I-95. (Tr 710-713) Lee turned on his blue lights and had to follow Bobby about a mile before he stopped. (Tr 722-723) They were about four miles from the Georgia border. (Tr 725) During the stop, Lee aimed his gun at Bobby and had him place his hands on the trunk of the car. (Tr 726-727) He advised Bobby that he was a murder suspect. (Tr 727) When Lee was about ten feet away as he approached, Bobby started toward the driver's side of his car. (Tr 728-729) Bobby said that he might as well kill himself, and then he began pulling his pistol from his pants. (Tr 729) Lee was able to grab Bobby's pistol and point his own gun up against Bobby's chin. (Tr 729-730) Lee secured the pistol, handcuffed Bobby and took him into custody. (Tr 730, 737-738) Lee said Bobby appeared calm and did not seem impaired from drugs or alcohol. (Tr 738, 744)

The .22 caliber pistol seized from Bobby belonged to Oscar Sprouse. (Tr 745-747) Sprouse had loaned the pistol to Bobby a couple of times in the past. (Tr 747-748) However, Sprouse made the decision not to loan Bobby the pistol again and told him that he could not use the gun. (Tr 749-750) Although he usually kept the pistol in his bedroom, Sprouse had the pistol in his living room on the television on the evening of April 19, 1988. (Tr 750) The gun was there when he left about 9:45

- 7 -

a.m. on April 20th. (Tr 751) When he returned around 11:45, Sprouse noticed that the pistol and a box of ammunition were missing. (Tr 752-753) There was approximately \$250 in cash sticking halfway inside a jewelry box less that a foot from the gun's location which was left untouched. (Tr 755) Sprouse also found pry marks to the lock on the door which had not been there earlier. (Tr 753) A ballistics expert concluded that one of the bullets removed from the body was fired from the pistol. (Tr 780-781) The other projectiles recovered were of the same caliber but too badly damaged for further comparison. (Tr 781-783)

## Facts -- Defense Case

Several witnesses testified for the defense about their contact with Bobby the night before and the day of the homicide. However, the trial court excluded a significant portion of several witnesses' testimony concerning Bobby's state of mind during this time on the ground that testimony was hearsay and did not meet the requirements for the state of mind exception. The evidence presented to the jury was as follows:

On April 19th, the day before the homicide, Bobby spent part of the day taking Nicole and the children to the beach along with Nicole's sister, Michelle LeCleric. (Tr 994-996) Bobby talked to several people at various times that night and early the next morning. His mother, Jacquelyn Downs, said Bobby and a friend came to her house, where Bobby was then living, around 6:00 p.m. on April 19th. (Tr 934-935) They had

- 8 -

been drinking. (Tr 935) After a couple of hours, Bobby took his friend home and returned home around 9:00. (Tr 935) He made some telephone calls and left about 10:30. (Tr 936) At approximately 2:00, Bobby returned home and awoke his mother as he took money from a piggy bank to buy some gas for his car. (Tr 936-937) On the morning of April 20th at 6:00, Bobby's mother found him asleep in his car parked in the front yard. (Tr 937) The car radio was blasting and Bobby had a beer between his legs. (Tr 937) His mother tried unsuccessfully to awaken Bobby. (Tr 937) At 8:00, Bobby stumbled into the house and passed out drunk on the couch. (Tr 938) Jacquelyn Downs left for an appointment at 8:15 and returned at 10:30. (Tr 939) Bobby drank some coffee, ate some soup and left around 11:20. (Tr 939) His mother said he was still high when he left. (Tr 939)

William Downs, Bobby's brother, testified that Bobby telephoned him at 11:30 or 12:00 on the night of April 19th. (Tr 924) They talked for about 20 minutes. (Tr 924) William could tell that Bobby was drunk because he slurred his words and repeated himself continuously. (Tr 925-926) William Pulsifer spoke to Bobby at a convenience store where Pulsifer's wife worked around midnight on April 19th. (Tr 954-955) Bobby was drinking a beer, and Pulsifer could tell Bobby had been drinking because his speech was slurred and he was driving very slowly. (Tr 955) Bobby's aunt, Glenda Smith, testified that Bobby called her on the night of April 19th. (Tr 967) She

- 9 -

could tell that he was drunk because he slurred his speech and was crying. (Tr 968)

Bobby spoke to two police officers between 1:30 and 2:30 in the morning on April 20th. (Tr 904, 913, 916) Around 1:45 a.m., Bobby flagged down J. D. Johnston as he was driving to an unrelated call. (Tr 904-906) Johnston talked to Bobby briefly and told him to wait there until Johnston completed his call if he wanted to talk more. (Tr 906) Upon his return about 30 minutes later, Johnston found that Bobby had left the area. (Tr 906-907) Bobby called the sheriff's office at 2:30 a.m., and Officer Dennis Blank was dispatched to meet Bobby at a convenience store. (Tr 914-917) The dispatch was characterized as a family disturbance. (Tr 920) Johnston also heard the dispatch over his radio. (Tr 910-911) Blank spoke to Bobby for about 20 minutes, they shook hands and Bobby drove away. (Tr 918)

Linda Chewning, who had known Bobby since he was elevenyears-old, saw him on the side of the road at 11:20 a.m. on April 20th. (Tr 946) Bobby's car was out of gas. (Tr 946) Chewning took Bobby to get some gas and paid for it as well. (Tr 947-948) During this time, Chewning said Bobby appeared confused and repeatedly called her by her daughter's name, Lisa, which he had never done before. (Tr 948) She could also smell a strong odor of beer. (Tr 948-950) A short time later, Chewning heard that Nicole had been shot. (Tr 949-950) Bobby's aunt, Glenda Smith, said Bobby came to her house between 12:15 and 12:20 on April 20th. (Tr 968) He was "acting real wild and scary." (Tr 968) His eyes were bloodshot and he was crying.

- 10 -

(Tr 968) After five to ten minutes, Bobby ended up pushing his aunt against her house and driving away. (Tr 969) As soon as he left, Bobby's mother called to tell Smith that Bobby had shot Nicole. (Tr 969)

### Excluded Defense Evidence

Since Bobby's state of mind was the critical issue at trial, the defense wanted to introduce evidence of Bobby's state of mind toward Nicole the night before and the day of the shooting. (Tr 834-840) The defense wanted to rebut the State's theory that Bobby planned a premeditated the murder by showing why Bobby went to Nicole the day of the homicide. (Tr 834-840) The trial court heard a proffer of the proposed evidence and excluded all or parts of the testimony of the defense witnesses. (Tr 831, 843, 859, 867, 873, 885, 891, 981, 998) As grounds for the exclusion, the court stated that Bobby's statements to these witnesses were hearsay and did not qualify for the state of mind exception. (Tr 834-840) Excluded testimony would have shown the following:

The night before the homicide, Bobby was confused and depressed. He loved Nicole and wanted to reconcile the relationship. He was also afraid of losing contact with his children. Bobby asked several people to accompany him to try to talk to Nicole. Each one told Bobby to wait until the next morning to contact Nicole. This evidence was probative of Bobby's state of mind when he saw Nicole the next day. William Downs would have testified that when Bobby called him that

- 11 -

night, Bobby wanted him to accompany him to Nicole's house to talk to her. (Tr 833) Since Bobby was drunk, his brother told him to wait until the the following day. (Tr 833) Susan Pulsifer, a friend of Bobby's who saw him at the convenience store where she worked around 12:30, would have testified that Bobby bought a six-pack of beer and talked about his relationship with Nicole. (Tr 984) He said he loved Nicole. (Tr 984) However, he felt the relationship was over, and he was upset and depressed. (Tr 984, 987) Leeds Gallagher, a long-time friend of Nicole's family and the son of Claire Cowette, would have testified that when Bobby came to their house at 1:00 a.m. on April 20th, Bobby wanted him to go somewhere with him. (Tr 1000) Cowette ran Bobby from the house and Gallagher had no further contact with Bobby. (Tr 1000) Bobby's aunt, Glenda Smith, would have testified that Bobby called her around 10:00 on the night of April 19th. (Tr 844) He was crying, upset and intoxicated. (Tr 844-845) He told her that he loved Nicole and was afraid that she was going away with Kenny Ray. (Tr 845) Bobby was concerned about seeing his children. (Tr 845) His aunt refused his request to go with him that night to see Nicole. (Tr 845) She advised him to wait until the next day. (Tr 845)

Portions of the testimony of the two police officers who spoke to Bobby the night before the homicide were also excluded. (Tr 859, 867) The court also prohibited playing the tape recording of Bobby's telephone conversation with the dispatcher. (Tr 873) Officer Johnston would have testified that Bobby

- 12 -

was concerned about his family problems when they talked the night before the homicide. (Tr 860-863) Bobby was upset and depressed. (Tr 863) Taking care of these problems seemed to be the most important thing on Bobby's mind. (Tr 863) He wanted the officer to accompany him to Nicole's house to talk to her. (Tr 865) Johnson's advice was for Bobby to go to bed and take care of the problem the following day. (Tr 862-863) Officer Blank would have testified that Bobby told him that he was having problems with his wife and wanted Blank to go with him to his wife's house to get his children. (Tr 869) Blank advised Bobby to wait until the morning to go to his wife to talk. (Tr 869) Blank said Bobby had been drinking and was upset. (Tr 870) Finally, the recording of Bobby's conversation with the dispatcher included his statements of concern about his relationship and his children. (Tr 873-877) The recording also showed Bobby's intoxication and state of confusion at the time. (Tr 873-878)

Michelle LeCleric, Nicole's sister, would have testified to a conversation she had with Bobby around midnight on April 19th. (Tr 886) Bobby told her that he suspected that Nicole and Kenny Ray, a family friend, were having an affair. (Tr 887) Michelle told him that as far as she knew, Kenny Ray and Nicole were just friends. (Tr 887-888)

## Penalty Phase and Sentencing

During the penalty phase of the trial, the State presented two additional pieces of evidence: a judgment reflecting

- 13 -

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