IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 12 1990

BOBBY LEE DOWNS,

Appellant,

DLERK,	SAFIEME	COURT
By	Daputy Clerk	ž.

CASE NO. 73,877

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Downs is not entitled to relief as to either his conviction or his sentence.

The court's discretionary evidentiary rulings were clearly supported by the law and the record.

The sentence of death is the result of a valid override of a baseless and unreasonable jury suggestion of life. All aggravating factors were properly applied.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING DOWNS' HEARSAY EVIDENCE

Downs proffered evidence from nine sources regarding his conduct on the day and evening before the murder. Downs alleged that his conduct, particularly his attestations of love for his children, somehow "diminished" his intent. None of Downs' "evidence", however, was relevant to the issue of his propensity for violence. Not once did Downs proffer evidence of any "statements of intent" surrounding the burglary. Not once did Downs offer evidence that the actual murder was unintended.

The State opposed the admission of Downs' proffered evidence on the grounds that the statements were made long before the crimes at bar (and were not res gestae) and that Downs could have formed the requisite intent in the ensuing hours after he returned home, slept off the beer, had breakfast and set out on his burglary/murder spree. The State also suggested that Downs could even have spent the night "building a defense" by visiting potential witnesses and protesting his concern for his kids while intending to kill Nicole all along.¹

Since this is an appeal, all facts and all inferences from the facts must be taken in favor of the lower court's decision. Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1980); Gilvin v. State, 418

¹ The plausibility of this theory is enhanced by Downs' postmurder conduct, such as his statements to Michelle, and to his conduct in jail of portraying symptoms of illness to his doctors but, when he thought he was unobserved, behaving normally, playing cards and basketball and watching T.V.

So.2d 996 (Fla. 1982); Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. No matter how Appellant chooses to interpret his 1975). evidence, this Court cannot reverse on speculation. Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974). Therefore, we rely upon the position that Downs, no matter what he may have said twelve to twenty-four hours before the murder, had the time to form the requisite intent to commit first degree murder. We also rely upon the fact that none of Downs' comments to witnesses on April 19-20, 1988, disavow or refute in any way his intent to murder Nicole. late We submit that Downs ' unrealistic night conversations with the police (for an escort to barge in on Nicole after midnight), even if valid as requests, were offset by Downs' failure to seek police help on the (late) morning of April 20th, his burglary of the Sprouse home and his shooting of the telephone when Nicole tried to call the (same) police.

In his brief, Downs alleges that the trial court was compelled to admit his hearsay evidence because it was relevant to issues of "intent" or "explanation of later conduct". Neither position is tenable.

In Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1988), this Court upheld the admission of hearsay testimony regarding threats the defendant made against his wife and family prior to killing them. The relevancy of Correll's statements, however, was clear. Correll said he was going to kill the victims and then he did so. These statements carried an indicia of reliability not present in our case and were, in fact, corroborated by Correll's subsequent conduct.

- 15 -

By contrast, Downs never stated that he had "no intention" of hurting Nicole (in fact, he said he loved her and threatened to kill her to the same witnesses). Downs' "state of affection" was not the same thing as his "intent" to kill. One can commit the first degree murder of a loved one.

In Peede v. State, 474 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1985), the issue was kidnapping and the victim's fear of abduction manifested to her daughter as she left to meet the defendant. Thus, the statement had a temporal connection which is not present at bar and carries indicia of mental state and reliability not present in our case.

In Jenkins v. State, 422 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), the defense of self-defense was raised and the comment in question was a threat made by the victim against the defendant. Again, the statement's relevance and trustworthiness was clearly different than the case at bar.

In Morris v. State, 530 So.2d 61 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), a witness confessed to another witness that he was "setting up" Morris for a bust. Since the defense was entrapment, the relevance was (again) obvious.

In contrast, the caselaw is equally clear that self serving declarations by a defendant that are not part of the res gestae are clearly inadmissible as an exception to the hearsay rule. Lowery v. State, 402 So.2d 1287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Fagan v. State, 425 So.2d 214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Overton v. State, 429 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Logan v. State, 511 So.2d 443 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987); Morris v. State, 530 So.2d 61 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). The courts, in reviewing these questions, have

- 16 -

consistently cited to the discretionary nature of the trial judge's decision and to the untrustworthiness of "exculpatory comments" made by a non-testifying defendant.

As noted before, none of Downs' statements addressed "intent". All of Downs' comments were uttered long before the murder. Downs never relied upon an intoxication defense. No matter his feelings at 3:00 a.m., Downs went home. Slept, ate breakfast, committed a burglary, loaded a weapon, shot his wife, and calmly departed the area after stopping to make a brief, misleading, statement to Michelle LeClerc in an effort to delay detection of his crime and facilitate his escape over the state line.

It is abundantly clear that Downs' proffered evidence was untrustworthy and irrelevant to the intent issue, was not part of the **res gestae** and in no way, shape or form explained his future conduct.

Taking the facts and all inference therefrom in favor of the court's discretionary ruling, and considering the settled caselaw, Mr. Downs is not entitled to relief.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING RELEVANT EVIDENCE OF THE VICTIM'S STATE OF MIND WHERE THE DEFENDANT HIMSELF PUT THE MATTER BEFORE THE JURY

While in the ordinary case the victim's state of mind may not be relevant, Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1988), the rule is not absolute and, in addition, is subject to a harmless error analysis. Correll, supra.

- 17 -

Downs contends that testimony from Judith LeClerc on redirect examination and subsequent testimony from Terry Strickland, on direct examination, improperly advised the jury of the victim's terror of Downs and, thus, her "mental state". Mr. Downs, however, has gingerly sidestepped the operative facts.

First, we must remember that Downs sought to mislead and deceive the jury regarding his relationship with Nicole. Downs attempted to portray their marital problems as merely transitory. Downs tried to tell the jury that he and Nicole still had a good relationship, that they saw each other (willingly) every day, that they took the kids on trips, that Nicole spent the night with Downs at least once, and that Nicole brought about her own death by virtue of her fickle attitude and her torment of poor, love-struck "Bobby". This story thus elevated Nicole's mental state to relevance as an extension of Downs' own mental state. Her "fickle" conduct was offered as the "cause" which led to the "effect" of Downs' criminal act of murder. This approach persists on appeal.

The Appellant cross examined Judith LeClerc along these lines and, in fact, induced Judith to testify that Nicole was terrified of Bobby (TR 480-481). Defense counsel did not object to the response and clearly opened the door to the topic of Nicole's fear. See Lambrix v. State, 494 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1986).

When, on redirect, the State adduced the comments cited in Downs' brief, the cat was already out of the bag and defense counsel's objections were properly overruled. **Tribue v. State**, 106 So.2d 630 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1958); **Lambrix v. State**, **supra**. The same held true for Strickland's subsequent testimony. Downs cannot object to the admission of evidence which clarified and explained his own proffered "victim's mental state" evidence. Downs was not entitled to mislead or confuse the jury. The State's evidence, admitted only after Downs himself had opened the topic, was clearly admissible. Even if the State's evidence was not admissible, under **Correll**, any error in admitting it was harmless.

ISSUE III

THE SENTENCER DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT THIS MURDER WAS "HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL" AND "COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED"

(A) Heinous-Atrocious-Cruel ("H.A.C.")

Bobby Lee Downs put Nicole through over fifteen minutes of prolonged screaming terror. Downs shot a telephone from her hand. Then, after failing to induce her to let go of their children, he shot her three times despite her plea for life.

This is an appeal. The trial judge, as sentencer, weighed the evidence and arrived at the appropriate result. Downs is not entitled to appellate resentencing from a cold transcript. Yet, Downs wishes to put this Honorable Court to the dark task of gauging whether or not Nicole "suffered enough" before her murder to "gualify" for justice.

Mr. Downs contends that the fatal shot caused nearly instantaneous death and presumes it was the first shot of the three fired into Nicole. By limiting his focus to the lethal act itself, Downs contends that the crime was not "heinous, atrocious or cruel" and coldly dispatches the victim's anguish as follows:

- 19 -

This is not a case where the victim suffered physically and mentally for a significant period of time before the fatal shot. [citations] Although Bobby pulled a gun on Nicole for a time before the shooting, there was no fear of impending death during this confrontation . . Just before the shooting the victim did beg Bobby not to shoot, but this does not evidence the prolonged mental terror or suffering necessary . . .

(Brief of Appellant, at 37).

These cold assumptions of fact are rejected by the State just as they were by the sentencer. More to the point, they suggest that this Court should speculate as to what was going through the victim's mind and then engage in **de novo** sentencing. That is not an appellate function. Again, all facts and all inferences from the facts must be taken in favor of the judgment.

It is undisputed that the mental anguish of a victim facing impending death, even an "instantaneous shooting death", can support a finding of "H.A.C." Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985); Clark v. State, 443 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1983); Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986); Henderson v. State, 463 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1985).

In Harvard v. State, 414 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1982), the finding of "H.A.C." was upheld in a case where the defendant's harassment of his ex-wife culminated in a drive-by shotgun slaying as she was leaving work. Though her death was instantaneous, this court examined the crime in context. Downs and Nicole were separated. Nicole had been threatened with a gun before. Her fear of death was so real that on April 10, 1988, she hid a pipe wrench in the couch for self defense. We wonder whom Downs is trying to kid when he says Nicole was not terrified.

- 20 -

While Nicole's fear of impending death, and undoubted fear for her children, means nothing to Downs, it was a valid factor for the sentencer to consider and is to be considered on appeal.

Thus, "H.A.C." was upheld in Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986), as to both victims when they were suddenly shot by their own son. While Mrs. Huff was beaten and shot, Mr. Huff was simply executed, yet the court noted his terror and shock at being killed by his own son.

In Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1982), the nearly instantaneous death of a kidnapped little girl did not offset her terror over her impending fate. Indeed, as noted in Knight v. State, 338 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976), the fact that death was "nearly instantaneous" is not controlling in these cases. The fear, sense of impending harm and mental anguish of the victim, however, must be considered as supporting "H.A.C." Squires v. State, 450 So.2d 208 (Fla. 1984) (victim wounded, then finished off with pistol shot to head); Henderson v. State, 463 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1985) (victims executed one at a time); Mills v. State, 462 1985) (mental anguish of 1075 (Fla. victim while So.2d transported to murder site); Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988); White v. State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981); Knight v. State, 338 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976).

Indeed, in Harvey v. State, 529 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1988), a finding of "H.A.C." was upheld where the two doomed victims had to listen to the defendant mull over whether or not to kill them. Thus, the fact that Nicole may have been unsure what Downs would do does not defeat a finding of "H.A.C."

- 21 -

Downs and Nicole did not get along. Downs mistreated and terrified Nicole to the point that she would not see him unless a third person was present. She was so terrified that she hid a pipe wrench in the couch just before Downs arrived. There was no "heated argument". Nicole saw that Downs was armed and ordered him to leave. She tried to call the police and Downs shot the phone. As she clutched her children and screamed in terror, Downs let her ponder her fate and tried to induce her to give up the children. Downs then shot her as she begged for life.

Downs then coolly left the scene.

In Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978), this Court upheld on "H.A.C." finding where the defendant murdered a store clerk who could not get a cash register to open. Hargrave wounded the clerk, stopped while a customer entered and left the store, then executed the clerk who, like Nicole Downs, had a few minutes to ponder imminent death.

Clearly, the trial court did not err.

(B) Cold-Calculated-Premeditated ("C.C.P.")

While Downs had terrorized Nicole in the past, there was no evidence that Downs was ever in fear of anyone or in any danger of physical harm from any source.

Downs promised Judith LeClerc he would take care of Nicole "his way".

Demonstrating heightened premeditation, Downs specifically burglarized the Sprouse household for a gun, ammunition, and nothing else. Thus, this was not simply a prior crime. It was a calculated act in furtherance of his plan to kill Nicole.

- 22 -

Once Downs obtained the gun, he had to dismantle and load it, then reassemble it. This gave him still more time for reflection. See Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988).

The fact that Downs demonstrated the heightened premeditation of stealing and bringing a loaded gun is a well settled supporting fact which the sentencer can rely upon in applying "C.C.P." This act of procurement has been upheld as proof of "C.C.P." in Huff v. State, supra; citing Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1984); Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984). Downs cannot hide behind the fact that he shot his wife. Turner v. State, 530 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1987). Indeed, but for Nicole's decision not to step outside with Downs, this murder would have been almost identical to Koon v. State, 513 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1987), wherein the husband armed himself in advance and "C.C.P." was upheld.

Finally, if we analyze all of the evidence in a manner supporting the judgment as required, we could find even greater proof of premeditation.

Downs left an unsatisfactory meeting with Judith LeClerc (on April 19, 1988), promising or threatening to take care of Nicole "his way". Downs made a big show of parading around on the night of April 19-20, 1988, proclaiming his concern for his marriage (stopping only to flirt with a friend's wife) and drinking beer but not getting drunk. Having built his track record, Downs soberly and professionally burglarized the Sprouse home while Mr. Sprouse was away but Mrs. Sprouse was inside, asleep. Downs never wakened Mrs. Sprouse and left almost no trace of his

- 23 -

crime - which was not immediately detected. Downs erred, however, by only taking the implements needed for the murder. Had Downs simply stolen money or jewelry as well, he could have concealed his intent. His single-mindedness gives him away.

It is beyond dispute that Downs demonstrated - to the actual sentencer - the heightened premeditation needed for a finding of cold, calculated and premeditated murder.

ISSUE IV

APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF UNDER HIS PROPORTIONALITY THEORY

Downs somewhat oddly contends that statutory aggravating factors cannot support a sentence of death. This assertion is so clearly incorrect as to negate the need for further reply.

The actual sentencer below found four valid statutory aggravating factors:

(1) Downs had two prior convictions for aggravated assault with a firearm (uncontested).

(2) This murder took place during an armed burglary (uncontested).

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